# Measuring the Co-Benefits of Climate Change Mitigation

### Diana Ürge-Vorsatz,<sup>1</sup> Sergio Tirado Herrero,<sup>1</sup> Navroz K. Dubash,<sup>2</sup> and Franck Lecocq<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Center for Climate Change and Sustainable Energy Policy, Central European University, Budapest H-1051, Hungary; email: vorsatzd@ceu.hu, stiradoherrero@gmail.com

<sup>2</sup>Centre for Policy Research, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi 110021, India; email: ndubash@gmail.com

<sup>3</sup>Centre International de Recherche sur l'Environnement et le Développement, Campus du Jardin Tropical, Nogent-sur-Marne F-94736, France; email: lecocq@centre-cired.fr

Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2014. 39:549-82

The Annual Review of Environment and Resources is online at environ.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-031312-125456

Copyright © 2014 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### **Keywords**

multiple benefits, co-benefits, adverse side effects, risks, co-impacts, quantification, social cost-benefit analysis, multicriteria analysis, integrated assessment models, decision support

### Abstract

Co-benefits rarely enter quantitative decision-support frameworks, often because the methodologies for their integration are lacking or not known. This review fills in this gap by providing comprehensive methodological guidance on the quantification of co-impacts and their integration into climate-related decision making based on the literature. The article first clarifies the confusion in the literature about related terms and makes a proposal for a more consistent terminological framework, then emphasizes the importance of working in a multiple-objective-multiple-impact framework. It creates a taxonomy of co-impacts and uses this to propose a methodological framework for the identification of the key co-impacts to be assessed for a given climate policy and to avoid double counting. It reviews the different methods available to quantify and monetize different co-impacts and introduces three methodological frameworks that can be used to integrate these results into decision making. On the basis of an initial assessment of selected studies, it also demonstrates that the incorporation of co-impacts can significantly change the outcome of economic assessments. Finally, the review calls for major new research and innovation toward simplified evaluation methods and streamlined tools for more widely applicable appraisals of co-impacts for decision making.

### Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	550
1.1. Rationales: Going Beyond the Direct Financial Assessment	
of Mitigation Options	550
1.2. Aims and Scope	551
2. THE RELEVANCE OF CO-BENEFITS FOR CLIMATE	
CHANGE MITIGATION	552
3. MAPPING CONCEPTS AND TERMINOLOGIES	
RELATED TO CO-BENEFITS	554
4. IDENTIFYING AND TAXONOMIZING CO-IMPACTS	558
4.1. Challenges to the Identification and Consideration of Co-Impacts	558
4.2. Methodological Framework for the Identification	
and Taxonomization of Co-Impacts	559
5. METHODOLOGIES FOR QUANTIFICATION AND VALUATION	
OF CO-BENEFITS	560
6. INCORPORATING CO-IMPACTS INTO	
DECISION-SUPPORT FRAMEWORKS	571
6.1. Social Cost-Benefit Analysis	571
6.2. Integrated Assessment Modeling	572
6.3. Multicriteria Analysis	572
6.4. Summary and Research Needs	573
7. THE IMPORTANCE OF CO-IMPACTS IN SOCIAL	
COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS	574
8. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	575

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

# **1.1. Rationales: Going Beyond the Direct Financial Assessment of Mitigation Options**

Co-benefits have become a major topic in climate and energy discourses. They are often cited in the context of climate-related decision making as factors that can significantly change the outcomes of direct cost-benefit evaluations (1–3). However, although often referred to and argued with, they are rarely measured, quantified, or monetized, and even less frequently do they enter the quantitative decision-making frameworks applied to climate change. They often just remain at the rhetorical or discourse levels, even though their inclusion may substantially influence the outcomes of decision processes.

Ideally, for any decision, a full stream of costs and benefits of all impacts should be considered. In practice, however, cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analyses of climate change mitigation measures and policies capture a fairly narrow range of direct consequences—see, for instance, the cost methodology discussion in Sathaye & Shukla's review (4) of greenhouse gas (GHG) costing. The analyses typically leave aside a broader range of indirect consequences. When indirect consequences do get included, these are typically limited to less than a handful of the most mainstream benefits, such as air pollution reduction and related health impacts. Furthermore, the lack of consistent methodologies for their quantification and summation sometimes leads to criticisms of double counting. The main purpose of the review, therefore, is to aid in filling this gap: We provide comprehensive methodological guidance for the quantification of indirect costs and benefits and their integration into decision-making frameworks.

However, because of confusions detected in the literature, we first clarify the meaning of several concepts and their relationship to each other as these influence the consistency of their incorporation into decision-making frameworks. These concepts include multiple nonclimate benefits, ancillary benefits, co-impacts, co-costs, disbenefits, transaction costs, trade-offs, spillover effects, externalities, and others. There is also a degree of confusion stemming from determining what the main impact is and what the co-impacts are. For instance, although nonclimate benefits are often referred to as co-benefits, in fact, the majority of these nonclimate benefits are likely to be the primary reasons for pursuing interventions.

In this article, as in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's (IPCC's) fifth assessment report (5), the terms co-benefits and adverse side effects are used when discussing the positive and negative side effects of mitigation policies and technologies, with the term co-impact synthetizing the two. For reasons detailed below, including the fact that the same impact can be a benefit or an adverse side effect, we suggest the more ubiquitous use of the term co-impact.

Finally, although the article's primary focus is methodological, it also attempts to shed light on the overall importance of co-benefits and co-costs. Because of the lack of general literature on this subject, the issue is illustrated using selected case studies.

### 1.2. Aims and Scope

As stated above, the purpose of this article is to provide a comprehensive methodological guidance for the conceptualization, identification, and quantification of co-benefits (co-impacts) and their inclusion in decision-support frameworks, based on the review of the literature.

Owing to the infancy of the related sciences, it is not possible to provide a comprehensive, allencompassing methodology for the assessment of co-impacts, and thus the review aims to provide a walking stick for understanding the related concepts, to suggest a framework for quantifying co-impacts, and to discuss how co-impacts can be incorporated into various decision-making frameworks.

More specifically, the article is organized as follows:

- 1. First, the article disentangles the confusion in the literature about the various terms used related to co-benefits, explains their relationship to each other and to climate-related decision making, creates a map of the various related concepts, and proposes an alternative framework for discussing these terms.
- 2. Second, the relationships between the different impacts are discussed, and the validity of the usage of the co prefix in these concepts is appraised. While doing so, we argue for considering co-benefits in a multiple-objective/multiple-impact framework rather than in a single-purpose co-benefit one and explain the importance of planning and welfare assessment using such an approach.
- Next, the article focuses on the evaluation of co-benefits. Within this, the taxonomies of various co-benefits that enter the climate discourse are discussed in relationship to various mitigation strategies.
- 4. Then, the literature is reviewed to provide a list of key co-benefits and the methodologies for their quantification and monetization. A framework is proposed that can be used for the identification of relevant co-benefits and their interrelationships; this framework also minimizes the risks of double counting and facilitates comprehensive coverage of the issues.
- 5. Three methods are reviewed that are used for the integration of quantified co-impacts into decision-making frameworks.

- 6. Because the field of comprehensively evaluated co-impacts is new, it is not possible to draw general, robust conclusions about the relative and general importance of co-benefits. Never-theless, some observations are made about the overall significance of co-benefits and about the categories that might be particularly important on the basis of some selected cases.
- Finally, the major gaps in related knowledge are identified, and a research and innovation agenda is proposed for progress on how to automatically integrate co-impacts into traditional decision-making frameworks.

With regard to the scope and purpose of the conceptual overview and organizing framework of co-effects of climate change mitigation, this article spans the entire range of co-impacts. When progressing to the methodological review, there is a focus on the co-benefits of climate change mitigation, and within that, many case studies discuss sustainable energy options, including improved energy efficiency and the increased use of renewable energy sources, to enable more consistent in-depth coverage.

# 2. THE RELEVANCE OF CO-BENEFITS FOR CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION

Climate change mitigation policies and measures are primarily aimed at reducing the emissions of GHGs relative to what would happen in the absence of the policy or measure (baseline). It can be thus understood that the primary benefits of these policies are the welfare effects of lower GHG emissions with respect to the baseline. These benefits are the avoided costs of the impacts of climate change. The marginal cost of one additional unit of GHG in the atmosphere (and thus the marginal benefit of not emitting that unit) is known as the social cost of carbon. In theory, the social cost of carbon provides a benchmark for assessing the cost-effectiveness of GHG mitigation policies and measures (1).

However, decades of experience in the design, implementation, and assessment of climate policies and measures have demonstrated that these also have consequences on areas other than climate and thus can serve diverse policy purposes and social priorities. There is evidence that mitigation measures have a range of positive human health, ecosystem functioning, macroeconomic, social, and/or equity side effects that in some cases outweigh the importance of climate change mitigation benefits. These have been often referred to as co-benefits or ancillary benefits.

Similarly, climate-related investments and policies can have adverse or negative co-impacts, referred to as disbenefits, co-costs, risks, or adverse side effects. For example, shifting to nuclear power plants reduces emissions in the power sector but introduces other risks. Increased use of energy from biomass helps reduce GHG emissions (to the extent the biomass pool is managed sustainably) but can, in some cases, have adverse side effects in terms of increased competition on agricultural land or loss of biodiversity.

The presence of co-impacts (co-benefits and adverse side effects) is not surprising because, in most cases, GHG emissions cannot be reduced with everything else being equal. Low-carbon technologies often differ from high-carbon ones (e.g., wind or solar versus thermal power plants) not only by their emissions per unit of output, but also by many other characteristics (labor intensity, capital intensity, etc.). As a result, installing low-carbon technologies typically has systemic impacts well beyond GHG emission reductions. Furthermore, reducing emissions via energy demand management typically requires changes in the behaviors of households and firms that also have complex outcomes. In fact, an absence of co-impacts is probably the exception much more than the rule.

Increased understanding of the policy relevance of co-benefits has been parallel to the development of climate change science since the first IPCC assessment reports were released in the early 1990s (6), although it has been reported that a similar notion was previously discussed in the 1985 joint United Nations Environment Programme/World Meteorological Organization/ International Conference for Science climate change conference and by Crutzen & Graedel's contribution to the 1986 book *Sustainable Development of the Biosphere* (7). An important milestone in that process was an Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development experts' workshop (8) held in the year 2000, which gathered substantial input and helped frame the importance of the issue. The related statement by Krupnick et al. (9) is still up-to-date and defines with clear precision the significance of the issue under discussion:

A great deal is at stake.... If these ancillary benefits are significant...then perhaps the development and implementation of climate policy should be altered. At the very least, knowing that the possibly high cost of climate change mitigation might be largely offset by ancillary benefits could speed up and spread the commitment to action as well as implementation itself. On the other hand, if these effects are "small" relative to the other costs or the benefits of reducing GHGs, perhaps they can be safely ignored in the debate over climate change mitigation policy—at least from the perspective of efficiency—simplifying an already too complex debate. (p. 1)

This idea is graphically depicted for the case of energy efficiency in buildings in **Figure 1**. In theory (10), the socially efficient level of emissions reduction is reached when the marginal cost of abating one additional unit of pollutant equals the marginal benefit of reducing that unit. In the case of climate change, the most evident benefits of abating GHG emissions are the primary benefits of mitigation (i.e., avoided social cost of carbon). If only these are considered (MB<sub>PB</sub>), then the optimal abatement effort is set at  $Q_1^*$ , whereas if both primary and co-benefits are accounted for (MB<sub>PB+CoBe</sub>), a more ambitious abatement optimum ( $Q_2^*$ ) is obtained.

In addition, co-benefits can contribute to tackling two important barriers faced by policy makers when deciding on the implementation of ambitious climate policies. First, it has been suggested that policy makers are far more concerned about short-term mitigation costs than with the



#### Figure 1

The optimal pollution level hypothesis applied to the case of co-benefits of climate change mitigation. Figure modified from Pearce (6) and Turner (10). Abbreviations: MB<sub>PB</sub>, marginal primary benefits of mitigation; MB<sub>PB+CoBe</sub>, marginal primary benefits and co-benefits of mitigation are considered; MC, marginal cost of pollution; Q, optimal abatement effort when only primary benefits are considered; Q, optimal abatement effort when co-benefits are considered; Q<sub>NR</sub>, no-regret abatement effort level.

long-term balances of costs and benefits. This effect, known as loss aversion (6), stems from the perception that, even if strong mitigation is started in the present, its effects on global temperatures would be considerably delayed in time (in fact, at an intergenerational timescale). Because most co-benefits, unlike the primary benefit, are enjoyed typically at regional or local scales, are closer to the agents bearing the mitigation costs (typically the taxpayers and/or the consumers), and have more immediate welfare effects (11), they provide incentives for decision makers to engage in more resolute climate action. Thus, climate benefits are reaped by future generations, and co-benefits mostly refer to the welfare effects enjoyed by present generations, so it can be argued that cobenefits (when the net results of the co-impacts are positive) contribute to bypassing the apparent intergenerational conflict of interests through which climate policies have been criticized based on equity grounds. This happens when a decision with positive effects in terms of climate change mitigation is made because of more pressing issues affecting the present life of citizens. Such is the case, for instance, of the EU's roadmap for a low-carbon economy by 2050 (12), where the substantial investments required for the transition are partially justified by the expected creation of new jobs, the forecast reduction of energy imports, and the foreseeable gains in air quality and health. Second, there is another particular feature of the global climate that prevents a coordinated international action against climate change. Because climatic stability currently is an underprovided global public good (a public good is one whose consumption is nonrivaled and nonexcludable), climate change can be taken as an updated example of the tragedy of the commons (13). As the primary benefits of a mitigated climate change are spread globally, irrespective of whether a nation is contributing to the mitigation or not, individual actors have an incentive to not participate, so that certain nations bear mitigation costs and others just benefit from the mitigation efforts (1). In such a context, as illustrated by the vagaries of the international climate negotiations since the early 1990s, finding a global agreement on climate mitigation is difficult. Here, co-benefits, or a positive net effect of the co-impacts, thus play an important role as they provide additional incentives to engage in mitigation actions, new entry points for mitigation policy making, and perhaps even incentives to formalize these actions through commitments to international agreements (14). Dolšak (15), for example, argues that it is precisely the domestic co-benefits of reduced air pollution that explain implementation of domestic mitigation policies in the face of a global collective action problem caused by a weak global regime with limited compliance mechanisms.

As the discussion above suggests, co-benefits are relevant not only for the economics of mitigation, but also for the politics of climate decision making. Rogers et al. (16) suggest that net co-benefit approaches can help remove barriers to domestic policy change through linkage to climate changes and by providing a focal point for groups advocating for climate policies. Partly in recognition of this fact, there is a growing tendency to embed climate mitigation policy within a larger framework of low-carbon development strategies and plans, which explicitly invoke cobenefits as the motivation for action. In China, for example, local implementation of climate plans is strongly tied to local incentives for energy efficiency (17–21). India's National Action Plan on Climate Change explicitly states that it is driven by co-benefits, understood as development actions that also bring climate gains (22, 23). In Brazil, a robust climate policy is strongly associated with domestic breakthroughs in forest policy (24, 25). This logic is also at work in the developed world. For example, Gore & Robinson (26) argue that expansion of municipal-scale climate action in the United States is often justified by the existence of co-benefits.

### 3. MAPPING CONCEPTS AND TERMINOLOGIES RELATED TO CO-BENEFITS

There is a wide spectrum of concepts that are related to co-benefits in the literature; many of them are used either interchangeably or with major overlaps, but the high number of terms and



#### Figure 2

Schematic map of different terms used in connection with co-impacts. The shaded area refers to the domain of typical cost-benefit analyses of policies or mitigation options. The horizontal axis is divided by the intention of the objective/policy area/recipient. Many definitions are used in different ways by different authors, and thus this is only a schematic diagram that characterizes the key axes along which the main definitions differ: intentionality and positive versus negative impacts.

their relationship to each other can get confusing. **Figure 2** organizes these often overlapping concepts, as they are used in the literature, in a rough map to clarify their relationship. Note that on the map the distance from each term to the origin or the distance between two terms does not affect the size or importance of the effect/term. The only element that matters on the map is the position of each term relative to the two axes (i.e., on the positive or negative side, or straddling the axes).

Because of the overlapping meanings and definitions, there can be several ways to organize and conceptualize these terms. During the review of past literature concerning these definitions, two parameters seemed crucial in mapping their attributed meaning and relationship to each other: (*a*) the positive and/or negative nature of the effect and (*b*) the degree of intentionality with which multiple effects are considered. The first is self-evident, but the second requires somewhat more explanation. The co-benefits discussion has been characterized by a growing sense that the multiple effects of policies and actions need to be more fully considered in mitigation plans. Thus, there has been a progression from an early effort at noting that some climate policies have substantial impacts on other objectives and indeed can be entirely justified on the basis of those objectives, such as the health gains of reducing indoor pollution, proceeding to an effort to develop mechanisms of explicitly and intentionally designing policies around multiple objectives. See Streimikiene &

Balezentis (27) for an example of the multi-objective ranking of climate change mitigation policies and measures in Lithuania.

Intentionality has played an important role in earlier co-benefit discourses, as reflected in the terminologies used (28, 29). Reflecting recent trends in this subject, we recommend deemphasizing intentionality in this discussion; but to organize and understand the literature to date, we review the role it has played. Intentionality is related to the intended impact and sector, but also to stakeholder groups/beneficiaries, such as countries; see, for example, the spillover effect or ancillary versus co-benefits as used in the IPCC's third assessment report (28) and in Jochem & Madlener (29). Spillover effects are defined (1) as the consequences of domestic- or sector-specific mitigation actions on other (i.e., not originally intended) jurisdictions or sectors. They may be positive or negative and take the form of carbon leakage, effects on trade, and transfer of innovation and technologies.

**Figure 2** lays out various terms on the axes of positive and negative effects and intentionality. The figure indicates in the middle shaded area the costs and benefits that are traditionally and typically conducted in the vast majority of evaluations of climate actions: direct costs and primary direct benefits. All of these costs and benefits occur to the same group of stakeholders/recipients (even though the correct use of cost-benefit analysis would require consideration of all costs or benefits, not just the direct ones, incurring to all affected parties). The same group, however, often also incurs transaction costs, such as those related to gathering information, finding the alternative technology, monitoring and verification, and others as well as those borne by project developers through the development of complex legal arrangements (see, for instance, 30). Although transaction costs are technology and policy-context specific, we recommend that they are taken into account—and minimized whenever possible—in the design, implementation, and assessment of policy instruments (31).

There are also often hidden costs, occurring to the same stakeholders as the direct costs and sometimes beyond the intended beneficiaries. Such costs would include a slightly modified service such as what arises when incandescent lamps are replaced by fluorescent ones, resulting in a changed color rendering.

When policies are being implemented, they have implementation costs, and thus it is not sufficient to consider merely the investment costs and benefits that occur to the actor who makes the investment as a result of the policy. These policy costs are often borne by a wider group of society than the immediate beneficiary of the investment (such as through the sale of renewable energy or profits through energy savings).

The remaining terms in **Figure 2** cover the domain of co-impacts, i.e., the various additional nondirect costs and benefits. Co-benefits are shown as occupying the upper right quadrant, using its definition in the IPCC's third assessment report (1, p. 812) as the "benefits of policies implemented for various reasons at the same time, acknowledging that most policies designed to address greenhouse gas mitigation have other, often at least equally important, rationales (e.g., related to objectives of development, sustainability, and equity)." This, somewhat confusingly phrased, definition focuses on simultaneous effects of a policy on different outcomes and signals a high level of intentional action. By contrast, ancillary benefits are placed in the upper left quadrant, defined as "Policies aimed at some target, e.g., climate change mitigation, may be paired with positive side effects" (1, p. 809), signaling low intentionality. However, as many other authors do not make an explicit distinction between co- and ancillary benefits, we placed co-benefits crossing over the intentionality axis. Other related terms, such as nonclimate benefits and nonenergy benefits (1, 32, 33), are also used as alternatives to co-benefits. Spillover effects are firmly on the unintentional side of the figure and can be either positive or negative. Unintentional negative effects are ancillary costs (8), ancillary impacts (1), co-costs (34), adverse side effects (5), risks (35), externalities (9),

and trade-offs (36) and often have meanings that overlap. Everything that has negative effects can also be referred to as co-cost or adverse side effect (the latter is used in this article) and everything with a positive side effect is considered a co-benefit for the rest of this review.

There are other issues that complicate the identification of an effect in such taxonomy. First, in practice, it is not very easy to determine what the primary aim of the policy is, and thus what is a cobenefit to another benefit. The trend, therefore, is toward consideration of multiple benefits and less toward defining what is primary and what is secondary. For instance, energy-efficiency policies are not begun for the sake of saving energy itself, but these always serve additional purposes, such as emissions reduction or energy cost reduction.

In fact, climate policy and climate investment,<sup>1</sup> except in a few countries, rarely takes place for the sole purpose of mitigating climate change, but most typically these serve other primary purposes, with the co-benefit being climate mitigation. This is especially true in developing countries, where basic development objectives often strongly outweigh the importance of climate objectives for the allocation of scarce resources. In such cases and in the vast majority of climate policies and investments, it is difficult to discuss the co-benefits of climate policies because the emphasis is on the co-benefits of development (or other) policies that need to be considered for climate policy.

Owing to this blurred nature of primary and secondary benefits, combined with the other reasons detailed above, for a proper assessment of the indirect costs and benefits (co-benefits), ideally a multiple-objective and multiple-impact framework needs to be used, assessing the full range of welfare effects. This recognizes that policies, actions, and investments often have multiple purposes and impacts in several areas. Such a framework also recognizes another challenge: Often it is not possible to determine a priori if an effect is positive or negative, in part, because contextual factors are extremely salient to this determination, thus affecting whether it is treated as a cobenefit or an adverse side effect. For example, the net employment implication of a mitigation policy may be positive or negative, or both. For example, the same co-impact can be positive for one stakeholder (such as increased employment in the wind turbine or solar panel construction industry as a result of a policy that supports the use of renewable energy) and negative for another one (such as decreased employment in the companies that build coal- or gas-fired thermal power plants as a result of the same renewable energy policy). Similarly, a climate policy can be very beneficial for the country implementing the policy, such as low-emission, advanced transportation technologies replacing older polluting vehicles in developed countries but may be much more negative for other countries. For example, if the emissions-intensive vehicles withdrawn from the market in the developed country considered above are sold at discount prices in developing countries, they will contribute to increased pollution- and injury-related health risks there (35). Therefore, categorizing an effect as a co-benefit (or any other term in the positive domain of Figure 2) or as an adverse side effect (or any other term in the negative domain of Figure 2) is often challenging or misleading or hides the complexity of the co-impacts.

As a result of using a multiple-objective/multiple-impact framework in an ideal assessment, the distinction between the positive and negative effects, as well as intentionality and other modalities that are traditionally distinguished among these terms, become less important with trends toward an integrated treatment, and thus this review advocates for the future usage of these more general terms. Along with these trends, the expression multiple benefits has been adopted by the International Energy Agency (37), although this still introduces an initial bias toward the positivity of impacts. Other key initiatives, such as the *Global Energy Assessment* (2), took this approach as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The term climate investment is used to refer to investments made for the purpose of, or in relation to, climate change mitigation.

The IPCC (1) also has been using the terms co-impact and ancillary impacts as a way to refer to both the positive and negative side effects of mitigation policies. From scientific and analytical perspectives, it is more correct to use co-impacts to ensure a neutral treatment of the different effects, but in the political and occasional policy literature, use of co-benefits or multiple benefits may still be justified owing to a specific focus on leveraging the positive impacts.

Distinguishing co-impacts or co-benefits from multiple impacts/benefits is mostly justified for analytical or political purposes when, for instance, it is difficult to evaluate the benefits in a full multi-objective welfare framing, or politically one benefit becomes a primary one, or one policy goal is singled out for certain (analytical) purposes. Although ideally a proper assessment of all co-impacts is needed in climate and energy policy and political discourses, co- or multiple benefits are often emphasized as distinct from the adverse side effects, and thus these are also terms that are likely to keep their ubiquitous use in the literature.

In summary, in this review, we use the terms co-benefits and multiple benefits for the positive co-impacts, and adverse side effects for the negative ones, following expert agreements for a consistent use of terminology for the fifth assessment report of the IPCC (5). Co-impacts encompass the entire range and often substitute for the longer expression of co-benefits and adverse side effects in the sections below.

### 4. IDENTIFYING AND TAXONOMIZING CO-IMPACTS

#### 4.1. Challenges to the Identification and Consideration of Co-Impacts

After laying out the background on the different related terms and concepts as used in the literature, this section provides a guide for starting with the assessment of co-impacts. It includes (*a*) a discussion of some general challenges to the assessment of co-impacts, (*b*) a methodological framework that helps with the identification of the concrete co-impacts (as they occur for specific cases) and with the creation of a broad taxonomy, and (*c*) a more detailed discussion of individual co-impact groups.

In addition to the confusion over definitions discussed in Section 3, additional considerations complicate the conceptualization of co-impacts and their analysis that need to be carefully observed.

First, as mentioned above, a multiple-objective/multiple-impact framework is necessary for a sound evaluation of co-benefits. For example, the United Nations Environment Programme (38) has developed a framework built around a hierarchical criteria tree that contains multiple categories, such as financing, GHG mitigation, social (e.g., reducing inequity), environmental, climate impact, and political and institutional, e.g., improved governance. Also, the Government of Japan has developed a methodology for assessment of co-benefits in the context of Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) projects (39). Dubash et al. (40) have developed a decisionmaking approach for assessing various policy options on the basis of multiple objectives, such as growth, inclusion, local environment, and climate mitigation. However, all these efforts are in their infancy and have yet to be applied and tested thoroughly. Much of the existing literature, therefore, focuses on climate mitigation as the primary benefit rather than as one among multiple benefits.

Second, a rigorous analysis of co-benefits should be based on understanding the net welfare effect of a given policy, including the full range of interactions. However, conducting such a thorough analysis often carries too high an analytical burden for the practicality of implementation. Moreover, in developing countries that are often far from optimal policy frontiers, this level of analysis may be superfluous. For example, if climate mitigation also leads to local air pollution gains, in countries with advanced air pollution policies, this may not lead to additional welfare gains, but in most developing countries, it can safely be assumed that these gains will indeed lead to increased welfare gains because existing pollution levels are high. Hence, efforts to be more explicit about co-benefits and gauge the direction of effects, even if not the magnitude, can nonetheless be an aid to decision making.

A related point is that, even though welfare impacts should in theory be measured taking into account all the direct and indirect effects of the mitigation measure, in practice, however, mitigation costs are at best estimated using general equilibrium models.<sup>2</sup> Those should correctly take into account cross sectoral implications of a given mitigation policy (e.g., renewable development taking skilled labor out of other sectors, thereby reducing productivity in those sectors). But general equilibrium models typically do not include externalities and thus exclude a large range of environmental co-benefits. Another issue is that mitigation costs are often estimated using partial equilibrium models that do not even capture cross sectoral implications, let alone externalities.

Another related challenge is that, although in theory both costs and benefits of any given measure need to be computed, in practice, evaluation of costs and benefits are typically separated. In fact in cost-effectiveness approaches, an emission reduction goal is set, and then the mitigation paths that reach this emission reduction goal are compared in terms of their costs. Such a framework is not the best way to introduce co-benefits because the primary benefits of mitigation policies (i.e., avoided damages of climate change) are not computed.

The last two points are observations by authors and a community of experts but have not been extensively addressed by the scientific literature. The fourth point is that, even with a little or no net social welfare effect, impacts on individual groups of stakeholders can be very highly negative or positive and that the impacts of the same intervention/investment can vary for different stakeholders, highlighting the importance of the distributional effects. As a result, considering only net social welfare effects may be insufficient for a proper evaluation of the co-benefits in certain cases. A narrower unit of analysis (i.e., a particular stakeholder group) may be used as a complement to understand the co-benefits/co-costs for particularly important groups of society, such as the poorest. These distributive issues can also be internal to the analysis.

Fifth, beyond the public/private distinction, scale is important for understanding the groups affected by the co-benefits, e.g., for which groups the co-impacts are beneficial or detrimental. For instance, while an impact may be positive or negative at the local level (e.g., a wind turbine may have negative local co-impacts such as visual and noise), this could be the opposite at the national level (the national environmental implications of a wind turbine replacing fossil fuels are more positive). A policy may have positive co-impacts for one country, but negative co-impacts for another one (such as spill-over effects). For the evaluation of multiple benefits, the relevant groups of stakeholders at an appropriate scale need to be considered. For example, a policy operating at a municipal scale may have effects beyond that level, e.g., a major bus procurement program for public transport could bring down the costs of buses for the entire economy. These effects may also be transnational, and many of these scale effects are spillover effects.

## 4.2. Methodological Framework for the Identification and Taxonomization of Co-Impacts

Having acknowledged the existing challenges, a guide and taxonomy for the identification of the co-impacts for the consideration of indirect costs and benefits of climate change mitigation are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>General equilibrium models aim at representing the functioning of the economy as a whole, whereas partial equilibrium models focus only on a subset of markets (e.g., energy markets).

proposed. A taxonomy provides analysts with a menu to identify specific impacts for particular projects/policies. However, as discussed below, any such taxonomy is problematic because of the interactions among the different impacts, and thus this review proposes a methodological framework for the identification of the different co-impacts rather than an ultimate taxonomy, which has neither been created nor is perhaps possible because of the complexity of the task demands.

The categories in the taxonomy (**Table 1**) presented are our own but are based on previous reviews (e.g., 1, 37). It is more comprehensive than detailed: It does not aim to describe every single sector- or policy-specific typology of co-impacts located in the literature but suggests instead a few broad categories in which lower-order categories of co-benefits can be elaborated for concrete policy/action domains.

It is impossible to provide a taxonomy that covers distinct, independent co-impacts because many of them are interrelated, so there is no ideal ultimate taxonomy. Each has its own shortcomings. Different taxonomies reflect different purposes for the assessment of co-benefits.

Instead, we suggest that, for a comprehensive appraisal of co-impacts, the keys are to identify the causal relationships and interactions among the impacts and to distinguish co-impact end points and intermediate co-impacts that influence other outcomes. A relevant example of a similar approach used in a different field is the impact pathway methodology developed by the ExternE Project for the economic assessment of the impact of air pollution in the European Union. This methodology models the path followed by airborne pollutants from activities to emissions, concentration and exposure levels, physical impacts, and the monetary value of such impacts (for an example, see 38).

To aid such a thinking process, **Figure 3** suggests a conceptual framework for mapping different co-impacts and impact end points, for identifying their relationships to each other, and for following the impact chains and interactions that can take place, illustrated by energy-related mitigation options. These options are divided into technology-based solutions (energy efficiency and fuel switching including renewables) and nontechnological solutions (including changes in energy-use patterns, based on the adoption of lifestyles, values, and behaviors, as well as those targeting changes in land use, deforestation, and forest degradation, which significantly contribute to global emission levels).<sup>3</sup>

Figure 3 examines the diversity of multiple impacts of mitigation measures and illustrates that some of the categories often considered in the analysis of the co-benefits of climate change mitigation, which, in reality, refer to a range of end points that are used for the quantification of the overall welfare effects of mitigation policies. For instance, reducing the indoor and outdoor concentrations of air pollutants decreases the incidence of air pollution–related mortality and morbidity, but also enhances the provision of ecosystem services and plays roles in improving comfort levels and in enhancing workers' productivity.

# 5. METHODOLOGIES FOR QUANTIFICATION AND VALUATION OF CO-BENEFITS

Quantification, and most often monetization, of co-benefits can enable the integration of coimpacts into presently used decision-making frameworks, such as cost-benefit or cost-effectiveness analysis. Theoretically, for each of the co-benefits identified and described in the previous section, a monetary value could be estimated. To do so, the impact of the climate measure is first quantified

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ It is estimated that 20% of global annual emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> is related to deforestation in tropical areas, which makes it the second largest contributor to climate change after the combustion of fossil fuels (41).

Table 1	Major categories of co-impacts of energy-based mitigation policies identified in the literature,	with supporting
evidence		

Category of	Subcategory of	
co-impact	impact	Description and supporting literature
Health impacts	Outdoor air pollution related	Energy-efficiency and fuel-switching measures typically reduce emissions of non-GHG pollutants harmful to human health (e.g., NH <sub>3</sub> , SO <sub>x</sub> , NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, NMVOC, heavy metals, etc.), which has positive welfare effects in both developed (14, 42, 43) and developing economies (44, 45).
	Indoor air pollution related	<ul> <li>Improved cooking stoves in developing countries reduce GHG emissions and alleviate the negative health effects of pollutants (e.g., CO, PM, black carbon) emitted by traditional biomass-based fuels (46, 47). Large-scale human health gains can be expected from the deployment of this technology as indoor air pollution is estimated to cause some 1.6 million premature deaths per year (48).</li> <li>Poor indoor air quality, related to the sick building syndrome, poses health risks to building occupants (49, 50) and can be potentially improved by energy-efficiency and some fuel-switching measures (51). Well-ventilated buildings reduce the presence of outdoor pollutants and can thus improve health and reduce allergies.</li> </ul>
	Energy poverty related	<ul> <li>Tackling energy poverty-related cold housing in developed and transition economies reduces excess winter mortality and morbidity (52–54). In addition to direct health impacts, cold housing has also negative mental health effects, e.g., increased stress and anxiety levels (55, 56).</li> <li>A large-scale deployment of renewable energy may result in an increase of energy prices and fuel poverty rates, as shown by Germany's energy transition (<i>Energiewende</i>) (57), which may increase cold-housing-related mortality and morbidity.</li> </ul>
	Outdoor noise related	Climate investments in the buildings and transport sectors can provide additional protection against external noise, which has positive health effects as noise exposure is connected to a number of diseases and disorders (58). Nighttime noise may deserve particular attention because of the link between sleep disturbance and accidents (59).
	Transport and traffic related	Shifting from private car-based transport to active transport (e.g., cycling) and rapid transit/public transport is expected to reduce road traffic accident injuries, which globally kill 1.3 million people per year, and to prevent diseases related to obesity and physical inactivity, e.g., type-2 diabetes, heart disease, and some cancers (35, 60).
	Heat island related	More efficiently provided energy services can reduce the heat island effect and its related health impacts, i.e., heat-related deaths and illnesses (61) as well as those related to increased smog levels. Such changes can be especially important during extreme events, including heat waves, which are known to increase mortality rates (62, 63).
Access, affordability, and energy poverty	Access to modern energy services	Policies aimed both at alleviating energy poverty and controlling GHG emissions in developing countries have the potential to significantly improve the living conditions of over 2 billion people who lack access to modern energy services (64, 65). Such measures can provide significant gains in terms of security (e.g., fewer risks associated with biomass collection and combustion), comfort, productivity, and income-earning opportunities for the concerned population (2, 66).
	Affordability of energy services	In developed and transitional economies, residential energy-efficiency investments have the potential to significantly improve indoor thermal comfort levels and reduce the energy cost burden of households living in fuel/energy poverty (53, 67, 68). However, a rapid, large-scale deployment of renewables may have negatively affected the affordability of domestic energy services among low-income households, as shown by the <i>Energiewende</i> , energy transition, in Germany (57).

(Continued)

Category of	Subcategory of	
co-impact	impact	Description and supporting literature
Comfort and living conditions	Thermal comfort	In developed and transition economies, improving the energy efficiency of buildings is reported to have positive effects in terms of the improved thermal comfort of building dwellers and users (69–71).
	Increased other comfort	Many energy-efficient alternatives represent advanced technologies compared to conventional ones and thus often have additional comfort impacts. For instance, high-efficiency lighting has much longer lifetimes, reducing replacement hassles, which is especially important for hard-to-reach fixtures, such as street lamps. The ventilation in high-performance buildings reduces indoor dust and thus cleaning needs.
	Exposure to noise	<ul> <li>Residential energy efficiency and use of public transportation reduce human exposure to noise and mitigate GHG emissions (69, 72).</li> <li>However, some renewable technologies, e.g., wind turbines, increase noise levels, harming to some extent the well-being of the population living in surrounding areas (73–75).</li> </ul>
Provision of ecosystem services		<ul> <li>Ecosystems provide a wide range of provisioning, regulating, habitat, and cultural services (76) that can be potentially enhanced through changes in the emission levels of airborne pollutants (77) and by investing in activities that prevent deforestation and forest degradation, e.g., REDD+ (78), or harm through land-use changes, e.g., forest conversion for biofuel production (79).</li> <li>Renewables technologies, e.g., wind turbines, have an impact on biodiversity by killing birds, bats, and raptors. However, the turbine-related increase in avian mortality is several orders of magnitude below the fatality rates caused by vehicles, hunters, and cats (75).</li> </ul>
Damage to building materials		Climate investments can reduce air pollution levels, which results in less damage to buildings and building materials (e.g., stonework erosion and blackening) that can be of particular concern for culturally significant places, e.g., historic buildings (80, 81).
Productivity	Performance of individuals and organizations	In public and commercial buildings, such as offices and schools, better temperature control, indoor air quality, and lighting positively influence the performance of users (82–84). The change in tropospheric ozone emissions from transport is demonstrated to have a significant impact on the productivity of agricultural workers (85). High-efficiency industrial processes improve competitiveness, and many energy-efficient processes also improve process efficiency/productivity.
	Crop yields	The productivity of agricultural land is also known to be affected by the atmospheric concentration of pollutants, e.g., the precursors of tropospheric ozone, NO <sub>x</sub> , CO, CH <sub>4</sub> , and NMVOCs (86). However, some airborne pollutants, e.g., SO <sub>X</sub> , have a fertilizing effect on some crops that is beneficial for agricultural productivity (87).
Energy security		<ul> <li>Energy security has been defined as the ability to guarantee an "uninterrupted provision of vital energy services" (2, p. 805) and includes the robustness, sovereignty, and resilience of energy systems. It has been estimated that most of the world's countries are vulnerable to energy security threats by at least one of these three concerns (2).</li> <li>Climate policies that reduce a nation's energy demands lessen the external risks associated with the consumption of imported energy, e.g., a sudden supply disruption and higher long-term energy costs (88), which are particularly relevant in in energy-dependent economies. For the same reason, energy-dependent countries may be tempted to apply measures that conflict with climate goals, e.g., switching from imported natural gas to domestic coal (2).</li> </ul>

### Table 1 (Continued)

#### Table 1 (Continued)

Category of	Subcategory of	
co-impact	impact	Description and supporting literature
Macroeconomic		Climate investments are expected to have positive macroeconomic impacts in terms of
effects		additional economic growth and employment creation when an economy is operating
		below its potential production level. Such positive net effects have been repeatedly reported
		for renewables and energy-efficiency investments in developed economies (89–93).
		In some developing countries, the production and commercialization of biomass-based
		energy both for local consumption (firewood) and export-oriented fuel (biofuel) are part of
		a thriving economic sector with the potential for additional gross domestic product growth
		and employment creation (94, 95).
		However, positive effects on employment are not permanent: In the case of renewable
		power in Germany, after a few years, job losses associated with the increase in the price of
		electricity may offset the investment-related positive effects of renewable power on
		employment (96). In the case of building energy efficiency in Hungary, growing
		permanent job losses in the energy generation and distribution sector may result in
		negative employment effects after two or three decades (97). Related to this, some climate
		investments result in unemployment in sectors like energy distribution, which may
		increase alcoholism, spousal abuse, and increased mental health problems among laid-off
		employees (8).

Abbreviations: CH<sub>4</sub>, methane; CO, carbon monoxide; GHG, greenhouse gas; NH<sub>3</sub>, ammonia; NMVOC, nonmethane volatile organic compounds; NO<sub>x</sub>, nitrogen oxides; PM, particulate matter; REDD+, Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation; SO<sub>x</sub>, sulfur oxides.

in physical units (e.g., avoided tons of pollutants released, life years saved, number of additional full-time jobs created, etc.) before translation into a monetary value. For nonmarket goods and services, valuation is typically carried out by estimating the willingness to pay for benefits or the willingness to accept compensation for losses (e.g., replacement costs, avoided costs, contingent valuation, hedonic pricing, etc.). These methodologies, rooted in economic theory, have been applied in a number of research areas (98, 99). At the same time, there are major concerns and shortcomings related to the monetization of certain impacts, as economic valuation methodologies have been criticized with arguments related to the commodification of ecosystem services (100, 101) or to the ethical implications of differences between the value of life in countries and regions with different income levels (30, 102). Thus, when a physical metric (e.g., disability-adjusted life years) is a sufficient indicator for decision making, it may be safer to use these metrics for those more controversial impacts; see Stiglitz et al. (103) for a discussion about the convenience of physical indicators in sustainability assessments. **Table 2** synthesizes the key indicators and methodologies used for the quantification of different co-impacts of key climate change mitigation-related investments, separated by physical and monetary metrics.

A key caveat surrounding the quantification and valuation of co-benefits is that co-benefits are extremely context dependent (see, for example, the cases collected in **Table 3**). Although the direct costs of mitigation measures can more or less be determined (such as the cost of a wind turbine), its co-impacts are primarily context driven. In other words, the sign and size of their impact on welfare depend heavily on local circumstances as well as on how the policy is applied and on the conditions under which the intervention takes place. This has many consequences. For instance, it is difficult to make general judgments about the size of the impact of different cobenefits. Therefore, it is difficult to provide more generic, simplified methodologies for zero-order assessments of co-benefits. Table 2 Indicators and methodologies used for the quantification of different co-impacts of key climate change mitigation-related investments, separated by physical and monetary metrics

Category of co-impacts	Subcategory of co-impacts	Physical indicator	Monetary indicator	Appraisal method	Examples and supporting literature
Health benefits	Outdoor air pollution related	Avoided cases Avoided hospital admissions	Avoided costs approach: cost of illness (cost per avoided case)	Revealed preferences: avoided costs approach	For pollution-related health effects, the valuation is done in three stages $(107)$ ; $(a)$ calculation of changes in the
	Indoor air pollution related	Kestricted activity days Years lived with disability Disability-adjusted life years	Willingness to pay (WTP) for avoided case or death: value of a lost year and value of a	Stated preferences approach (contingent valuation)	concentration of air pollutants; (b) estimation of the human health response (e.g., cases or deaths avoided); and (c) valuation of avoided health
	Energy poverty related	(DALYs) Quality-adjusted life years	statistical life (VSL)		impacts either through a cost of illness approach or through a WTP approach—see the evidence from
	Outdoor noise related	r cars of life lost			developed (+4., 109) and developing countries (++, 109). Providing universal access to electricity and clean cooking facilities would save 24 million DALYs by 2030 (2).
	Transport and traffic related				For energy poverty-related health effects, the value of reduced excess winter mortality has been valued by VSLs and adult morthidity reduction using the avoided costs
	Heat island related				approach (e.g., reduced hospitalization and drugs costs), reductions in children's morbidity has been estimated through replacement costs or opportunity costs of child's caregiving, or the avoided cost of days away from school (110–112).
Energy poverty and distributional effects	Access to modern energy services	Additional kWh of quality energy (e.g., electricity) consumed Households with modern energy services (e.g., connected to the electricity grid)	WTP for an additional unit of quality energy (e.g., cost per kWh) or for having access to electricity (cost per household)	Consumer surplus estimation through stated preferences method (contingent valuation)	In developing countries, households' WTP for having access to electricity for lighting and TVs in the range \$0.10–0.40 per kWh, above the long-term supply costs of electricity estimated at \$0.05–0.12 per kWh (113). In the Philippines, a similar study reported a value of \$81 to \$13 0 per month and per household for the perceived benefits of gaining access to the electricity grid (114).
	Affordability of energy services	Decreased energy demand (e.g., kWh)	Per unit cost of energy (e.g., cost per kWh)	Energy prices	Estimates of reduced domestic energy costs owing to energy-efficiency investments can be estimated through energy prices (see 110, 115).
Comfort and living conditions	Thermal comfort	Increased indoor temperatures Increased percent of floor area heated	Forgone energy cost savings	Energy prices	Households, especially those in fuel/energy poverty, often heat their dwellings to suboptimal levels as an energy cost saving strategy. The value of this benefit can be estimated as the increased fraction of energy savings forgone (up to 50%), which is reaped as indoor temperature improvements after a thermal retrofit (see 110, 116).
	Exposure to external noise	Decibels (dBs) of external noise avoided	WTP to reduce exposure to external noise (e.g., cost per dB) Increase in the rental or sale price of properties (cost, percent)	Stated preferences (contingent valuation) Hedonic pricing	The contingent valuation of Bjørner (117) found an increasing WTP per dB dependent on the initial noise level—from £2 per dB at 5 dB to €10 per dB at 75 dB $-10^{-10}$ Copenhagen residents. dB $-for$ Copenhagen residents. dB $-for$ Copenhagen residents. Hedonic pricing studies of real estate market transaction prices in Switzerland and the Netherlands indicate that a building with energy-efficient characteristics yields a value $\sim 3$ % higher than a conventional building (69, 118). This percentage reflects the capitalized value of future energy savings plus the value of co-benefits, e.g., protection against noise and general improvement in confort.

Provision of ecosystem services		Hectares (ha) of ecosystem or units of ecosystem service flow (e.g., number of recreational visitors per year)	Cost per ha of ecosystem or unit of ecosystem service flow per year (e.g., cost per ha per year)	Market prices, stated preferences, and revealed preferences Benefit transfer and meta-analytical techniques	A whole range of valuation techniques is available, but a two-step approach is suggested: (a) estimating the change for the physical flow of a service (e.g., forest ha saved from addification), and (b) application of per unit comonic values (which can be sought in the growing body of literature) on the value of co-system services. These values are often very spatially heterogeneous and therefore context specific. However, researchers can use review papers (76, 119) that provide average values of the world's ecosystems in US dollars per ha per year employing benefit transfer and meta-analytical techniques.
Damage to building materials		Frequency of cleaning and maintenance of buildings	WTP for avoiding damage to building materials	Avoided cost approach (cleaning and restoration) Stated preferences (e.g., contingent valuation)	A contingent valuation study found that the WTP for an increase in the frequency (from 40 years to 10 years) of a hypothetical cleaning cycle of the UK's Lincoln cathedral was between 15 and 23 UK pounds per amuum and per household of Lincoln and the surrounding area (120).
Productivity	Performance of individuals and organizations	Increase in labor productivity	Per unit labor costs	Market price of labor	Zivin & Neidell (85) found a 5.5% reduction in the produceivity of agricultural workers in California's Central Valley per each 10 ppb increase in the concentration of tropospheric ozone. Accordingly, a 10 ppb reduction in surface ozone concentration would avoid US\$700 million in labor costs across the United States.
	Crop yields	Increase in crop yields (percent)	Cost per unit of agricultural produce (e.g., cost per tonne)	Avoided cost and price of agricultural products	Estimated global losses in the agricultural production of soybean, wheat, and maize caused by surface ozone precursors (e.g., NMVOC and NOA) caused by an amount (in year 2000 USS) of \$12–35 billion annually (121).
Energy security		Units of imported energy avoided (e.g., oil barrels)	Cost per unit of imported energy (e.g., cost per oil barre) WTP to secure the energy supply (e.g., cost per MWh)	Estimation of the macroeconomic external costs of energy imports Stated preferences (contingent valuation)	An energy security-related external cost of fossil-fuel consumption of between USS5 and USS15 per barrel has been estimated in the United Sates with the aim of suggesting an optimal consumption tax that compensates for the external effect of an insecure energy supply (88, 122). In Greece, a contingent valuation survey strantat that households are willing to pay a premium of between $\pounds4.5$ the gas supply for electricity bills for securing the gas supply for electricity generation (123).
			-	-	(Continued)

_
Sec. 1.
~~~
_
-
- 22
_
_
. 🗠
C &
_
$\sim$
_
- AD
_
_
_
_
_
_

Table 2   (Continued)	~				
Category of co-impacts	Subcategory of co-impacts	Physical indicator	Monetary indicator	Appraisal method	Examples and supporting literature
Macroeconomic effects		Percentage points of additional growth (%) Additional full-time equivalent (FTE) positions created	Monetary units per additional employment created (e.g., cost per FTE) Shadow price of labor costs in social cost-benefit analysis	Input-output (I/O) analysis, computable general equilibrium (CGE) models and macroeconomic models Analytical methods Opportunity costs of labor and public expenditures Stadow pricing of labor costs Shadow pricing of labor costs	GDP and employment effects are often jointly quantified through <i>I/O</i> analysis (90, 92, 93, 97, 106). CGE and economerically adjusted macroeconomic models capture more complex, dynamic effects, eg., the crowding out of capital, materials, and labor (see 124, 125). The simpler, survey-based analytical method directly records the number of employees involved in a given industry. sector, or activity and only captures direct employment effects (126, 127). The monetary value of employment creation for a person finding a new job can be estimated through the opportunity cost of public expenditures used for promuting ob creation (93, 106), or the stated preference methods that allow estimating a <i>WTP</i> for job creation (128). Pearce et al. (98) and the European Commission (129) suggest incorporating employment effects in social cost-benefit analysis through shadow pricing labor costs below the wage level when the project trot workers who would be unemployed had the project not taken place.

Abbreviations: kWh, kilowatt-hour.

			Source	1 110						q		111										115									(Continued)
	Co-benefit categories in order of	relevance (contribution to final	results)	Avoided excess winter mortality caused	by energy poverty	Comfort benefits	Avoided emissions of SO <sub>x</sub> , NO <sub>x</sub> , and	$PM_{10}$	Avoided CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	Avoided excess winter morbidity cause	by energy poverty	Reduced hospital admissions	Reduced days away from school	Reduced days off work	CO <sub>2</sub> savings							Avoided emissions of non-GHG	pollutants (SO <sub>x</sub> , NO <sub>x</sub> , PM, NMVOC	heavy metals, etc.)	Comfort benefits	Avoided excess winter mortality caused	by energy poverty	Avoided CO <sub>2</sub> emissions			
Importance of co-benefits as	the % of direct	or total	benefits	Co-benefits are	75% of direct	energy-saving	benefits					Co-benefits are	350% of direct	energy-saving	benefits							Co-benefits are	between 97%	(DEEP	scenario) and	174% (MID	scenario) of	direct	energy-saving	benefits	
		Net B/C ratio or NPV	including co-benefits	B/C ratio: 2.0	(after 31 years at 5% discount	rate)			Social NPV: €3,124 M	(after 31 years at 5% discount	rate)	B/C ratios:	At 5% discount rate: 4.8	At 7% discount rate: 4.8	(after 30 years)	Social NPV:	At 5% discount rate:	NZ\$621 per household	At 7% discount rate:	NZ\$502 per household	(after 30 years)	B/C ratios:	MID scenario: 2.6	DEEP scenario: 1.7	(after 40 years at 5.5%	discount rate)	Social NDV (offer 40 years at	5 5% discount rate).	MID scenario: €7,453 M	DEEP scenario: €11,134 M	*
		Net direct B/C ratio and/or	$NPV^{a,b}$	B/C ratio: 1.7	(after 31 years at 5% discount	rate)			Social NPV: €1,111 Million	(after 31 years at 5% discount	rate)	B/C ratios:	At 5% discount rate: 21.4	At 7% discount rate: 21.5	(after 30 years)	Social NPV:	At 5% discount rate:	NZ\$3,373 per household	At 7% discount rate:	NZ\$3,275 per household	(after 30 years)	B/C ratios:	MIID scenario: 0.9	DEEP scenario: 0.9	(after 40 years at $5.5\%$	discount rate)	Social NDV (after 40 means at	5 5% discount rate).	MID scenario: −€320 M	DEEP scenario: $-\epsilon 3,125$ M	
	Climate	invest-	ment	Thermal	retrofits of	residential	buildings	in Ireland				Thermal	insulation	of houses	in low-	income .	communi-	ues in	New 1	Lealand		Thermal	retrofits of	residential	buildings	in	Hungary				
		Case	number	1								2										3									

 Table 3
 Ountitative assessment of the importance of co-benefits for selected case studies

Table 3	(Continued)					
				Importance of		
	Climate			co-benefits as the	Co-benefit categories in order of	
Case	invest-	Net direct B/C ratio	Net B/C ratio or NPV	% of direct or	relevance (contribution to final	
number	ment	and/or NPV <sup>a,b</sup>	including co-benefits	total benefits	results)	Source
4	Renewable	B/C ratios (after 15 years at	B/C ratios (after 15 years at 3%	Co-benefits are	Displaced pollution is the only	148
	off-shore	3% discount rate):	discount rate):	between 53%	co-benefit category reported. It	
	wind	1-mile off-shore plant: 2.6	1-mile off-shore plant: 2.5	(1-mile off-shore	contains 5 subcategories (results not	
	farms in	20-mile off-shore plant: 2.1	20-mile off-shore plant: 3.1	turbine) and 60%	disaggregated): reduced mortality	
	Scotland	Social NPV (after 15 years	Social NPV (after 15 years at	(20-mile	and morbidity, avoided ecological	
		at 3% discount rate):	3% discount rate):	off-shore turbine)	effects on water quality and	
		1-mile off-shore plant:	1-mile off-shore plant: €32.6 M	of direct	heathlands, avoided damages to	
		€21.8 M per turbine	per turbine	electricity output	agricultural crops, avoided impact on	
		20-mile off-shore plant:	20-mile off-shore plant:	benefits	historic buildings, and avoided CO <sub>2</sub>	
		€30.4 M per turbine	€62.6 M per turbine		emissions.	
5	Improved	NA	B/C ratio (after 14 years at a	Co-benefits are	Health impacts	149
	biomass		10% discount rate): 10.2	83% of direct	Environmental impacts (forest reserve	
	cook-			fuelwood saving	preservation and GHG reduction)	
	stoves in Mexico		Social NPV (after 14 years at a 10% discount rate): \$5,000 M	benefits	Job creation and income generation	
6	Alternative	NA	Sustainable forest management	Nonclimate	Product values (timber, fuelwood, and	150
	use		Social NPV (at 40 years, carbon	benefits represent	coffee)	
	systems		valued at \$21 per ton C): <sup>c</sup>	92% of total	Watershed services	
	for		\$20,360 per ha (10% discount	benefits, whereas	Carbon storage	
	remaining		rate)	carbon storage	Coffee gene pool	
	Ethiopian		\$36,631 per ha (5% discount	benefits add 8%	Pharmaceutical research	
	cloud		rate)	of the total.		
	forest		\$44,900 per ha (3% discount rate)			
			Strict conservation	Nonclimate	Carbon storage	
			Social NPV (at 40 years, carbon	benefits represent	Watershed services	
			valued at \$21 per ton C):	53% to 56% of	Coffee gene pool	
			\$6,510 per ha (10% disc. rate)	total benefits,	Pharmaceutical research	
			\$12,246 per ha (5% disc. rate)	whereas carbon		
			\$16,900 per ha (3% discount	storage benefits		
			rate)	add 44% to 47%		
				of the total.		

151 <sup>d</sup>	
Storm protection Off-shore fisheries Shrimp revenues Carbon sequestration	Shrimp revenues Off-shore fisheries Carbon sequestration
Nonclimate benefits represent 98% of total annual benefits, whereas carbon sequestration benefits comprise 2% of the total.	Nonclimate co-benefits represent 98% of total annual benefits, whereas carbon sequestration comprises 2% of the total.
Conserved mangrove NPV at 30 years: \$53–68 thousand per ha (at 6% discount rate) \$73–94 thousand per ha (at 3% discount rate)	Degraded mangrove/shrimp farming NPV at 30 years: \$15-19 thousand per ha (at 6% discount rate) \$24–31 thousand per ha (at 3% discount rate)
NA	
Mangrove conver- sion and conserva- tion Thailand	
N	

<sup>a</sup>Direct benefits refer to energy savings valued at energy prices.

<sup>b</sup>Abbreviations: B/C, benefit cost; DEEP scenario, deep retrofit scenario; GHC, greenhouse gas; M, million; MID scenario, middle-intensity retrofit scenario, NA, not applicable; NPV, net present value;  $PM_{10}$ , particulate matter with a diameter of 10 micrometers or less.

<sup>c</sup>The unit value of carbon storage, \$21 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> carbon, is taken as the reference value for the analysis; however, the paper (150) also reports NPVs for alternative values of \$58 and \$129 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub>, which would substantially increase the NPVs and the importance of carbon.

<sup>d</sup>As reported in Turner et al. (152).

~



#### Figure 3

Conceptual map of the welfare effects of mitigation strategies and their interrelated nature.

Second, as some categories of co-benefits overlap, special care must be taken to avoid double counting, especially when monetary values are incorporated into decision-making frameworks, such as in a cost-benefit analysis. For example, improved air pollution resulting from investments in renewables or in energy efficiency affects household comfort, peoples' health, and workers' productivity (see **Table 2**). These three categories of co-benefits at least partly overlap. Careful analysis of welfare end points is therefore warranted to avoid double counting. Nevertheless, it is possible that in many cases the potential bias such double counting introduces to a co-impact assessment is smaller than the bias (*a*) left by failing to assess co-impacts that may not yet be fully understood or acknowledged or (*b*) for which quantification and valuation methodologies are not available (104). Therefore, it is worth considering whether the double-counting risk, if not possible to eliminate, is important enough to compromise an attempt at integrating the key co-impacts into the decision making.

Third, operating (for analytical purposes) with distinct individual co-benefit categories may hide complex dynamic relationships and feedback loops. For instance, renewables and energy efficiency reduce air pollution, which decreases health care costs versus a baseline and may release public resources that can be invested or spent on alternative uses and further enhance employment or gross domestic product levels. In this regard, it must be also pointed out that the overall positive and negative welfare effects of mitigation policies are seldom quantified or valued on a life cycle basis, with some environmental impacts left unaccounted for. This may be particularly relevant in the case of measures entailing the installation or upgrading of infrastructure (i.e., replacing industrial equipment or vehicles with more energy-efficient machinery, installation of renewable capacity, etc.) versus a business-as-usual scenario. For example, a recent assessment by Shih & Tseng (105) created a model to integrate the life cycle co-benefit assessment of sustainable energy policies but extended this only to air pollution and related health impacts.

Distributional effects are also important, especially when mitigation measures contribute to bridge the inequality gap. An example is public transport, which is more often used by the disadvantaged groups of society, such as the very young and elderly, females, and lower-income people, thus influencing the access of these population segments to economic opportunities (35). In India, climate policies can greatly reduce the morbidity/mortality impacts related to PM<sub>10</sub> concentration levels, which are significantly higher in low-income areas, while imposing mitigation costs on the wealthier population (44). Therefore, in addition to a total welfare effect, it can also be important to consider the distributional effects of the policy/measure as decision criteria. In cases where there is a well-defined distributional outcome desired, this may enter the calculation of the overall welfare impact through weighing net benefits with equity factors based on differences on income distribution and well-being across socioeconomic groups (98).

In spite of the shortcomings described above, an important feature of valuation is that it provides a common measuring rod that, by expressing the value of changes in welfare in monetary units, allows adding and comparing market and nonmarket benefits with the costs associated with climate investments (106). However, for some of the categories identified (e.g., employment effects), limited examples of valuation techniques are as yet available, and for others (e.g., value of reduced mortality), some significant uncertainties remain. In those cases, similar to when monetization is controversial, reporting results in physical units is often advisable and can be combined with alternative assessment techniques, such as multicriteria analysis, described in Section 6.3.

# 6. INCORPORATING CO-IMPACTS INTO DECISION-SUPPORT FRAMEWORKS

In this section, we review three key methodological frameworks for incorporating these co-impacts into decision-making frameworks: social cost-benefit analysis, integrated assessment modeling, and multicriteria analysis.

### 6.1. Social Cost-Benefit Analysis

Cost-benefit analysis is a major appraisal technique for public investments and public policy, used in the fields of environmental policy, transportation planning, and health care (98). Its application as an assessment tool of regulatory and investment initiatives has been required by national and supranational institutions, e.g., the European Commission (129) and the US Office for Management and Budget (130).

Grounded in the theory of welfare economics, cost-benefit analysis provides a framework for the comparison of relevant policy options from an aggregated welfare perspective. In essence, cost-benefit analysis compares projects and policies based on the discounted sum of their costs and benefits to estimate the net present value of each option; these values are used as social profitability indicators when deciding on mutually exclusive projects. For the analysis to be complete and credible, identifying as many feasible, relevant alternatives (including a zero or do-nothing business-as-usual scenario) is required to ensure that a full range of options has been considered (99). However, cost-benefit analysis is not only important by its result (the aggregate net present value) but also by the fact that it forces one to enumerate and evaluate, as much as possible, all the consequences of the policies that are considered.

Two types of cost-benefit analysis can be conducted (99). Private or financial cost-benefit analysis measures the costs and benefits of a given project from the perspective of one economic agent (e.g., a household, a firm, the government), and therefore, only the costs and benefits accruing to that particular agent are taken into account. By contrast, social cost-benefit analysis aims at measuring the costs and benefits of a given project or policy from the perspective of society as a whole. In a social cost-benefit analysis, costs and benefits accruing to all affected parties should thus be taken into account—raising issues, as noted above, about not only the aggregate (net) costs and benefits but also about their distribution.

For the assessment of the co-impacts of climate policies, social cost-benefit analysis is the preferred appraisal tool because it measures costs and benefits as variations in human well-being (i.e., in utility), thus estimating the net contribution of each of the defined policy options to the aggregated welfare of the society. This is mostly a result of the methodological specificity that differentiates social cost-benefit analysis from financial cost-benefit analysis (98, 99, 129) and, in particular, a result of the quantification and monetization of nonmarket costs and benefits (like externalities) through a whole range of available economic valuation tools, as seen in **Table 2**. This is a key aspect of the social cost-benefit analysis methodology with regard to the quantification and valuation of climate co-impacts, which often occur as nonmarket costs and benefits.

### 6.2. Integrated Assessment Modeling

Important purveyors of mitigation policy analysis are integrated assessment models (IAMs), which evaluate the costs of different mitigation policies; see, e.g., chapter 3 of the IPCC's fourth assessment report (1), chapter 6 of the IPCC's fifth assessment report (5), or Sathaye & Shukla (4) for a review. Large-scale IAMs typically operate in a cost-effectiveness system, thereby not considering the primary benefit of climate mitigation. Direct costs of mitigation are estimated using a partial or general equilibrium analysis, depending on the model. But even in IAMs with general equilibrium models, macroeconomic feedbacks typically remain limited. For example, the employment effects of climate policies, implications for investment flows and trade balances, or interactions between climate policy and the fiscal setting are typically not captured (131). Environmental and health co-impacts are often estimated in a nonmonetary way. The MESSAGE model developed at the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA) computes local air pollution implications of particular measures (in atmospheric concentrations of particulates) via its GAINS submodel (132), but not the welfare implications of changes in pollution. The MESSAGE model has recently been applied to break new ground with more rigorous assessments and incorporation of multiple benefits, as described in (133, 134) and the *Global Energy Assessment* (135). However, even these extend analyses to the incorporation of only a selection of key co-impacts.

IAMs thus typically provide insights directly usable in multicriteria analysis (rather than costbenefit analysis). Their strength is that they can potentially incorporate evaluations in both physical and monetary units. However, they are very complicated and require a sophisticated and complex model as well as a very large amount of data, excluding this method from instances when resources for decision support are limited.

### 6.3. Multicriteria Analysis

Multicriteria analysis is a technique that enables assessment of the impacts of a policy objective on multiple simultaneous outcomes (136, 137). Multicriteria analysis has at least three strengths

that go beyond the contributions of social cost-benefit analysis that make it particularly suitable for climate-related decision making. First, it provides a framework to bring together quantitative and qualitative information, thereby allowing consideration of problems where quantitative or monetary information in the same currency is not available or cannot effectively be approximated through valuation techniques (137–139). Second, it allows the incorporation of stakeholders' preferences, which often vary on environmental issues, into decision making through a process of weighting objectives (116, 124). Third, it frames decision making in procedural terms by embedding decision making within a structured process of deliberation and discussion. This allows a more productive use of qualitative information, allows for weighting on the basis of stakeholder perspectives, and allows for iterative analysis, which promotes convergence toward better decision making over time (138). Although not exclusive to multicriteria analysis, the ability to productively use qualitative information alongside quantitative information and the emphasis on the process of arriving at the result through stakeholder deliberation distinguish it from other decision-support tools, such as social cost-benefit analysis.

Multicriteria analysis has a growing track record of use in environmental decision making (38), where the challenges of multiple objectives, choices, trade-offs, and valuation are particularly important (140–143). Brown & Corbera (140), for example, use multicriteria analysis to examine the broader development implications of forest carbon markets. A multicriteria analysis–based approach to climate mitigation policy has been proposed by Dubash et al. (40). The most ambitious effort to develop a multicriteria analysis framework to climate policy has been attempted by the United Nations Environment Programme (38). The framework is built around a hierarchical criteria tree containing generic criteria divided into a number of categories, which were described in Section 4.1.

It is important to understand both the strengths and the limits of multicriteria analysis approaches. The use of subjective values and weights is intrinsic to the method and is defended on the grounds that the approach makes these otherwise implicit weights explicit. To be credible, multicriteria analysis requires a supporting social process for discussion and decision making. As a result, the background work required can be substantial: (*a*) to clarify all assumptions, source information, and opinions and (*b*) to clearly communicate the results as well as the trail of argumentation and analysis leading to those results. Finally, for some approaches, the process rests on the robustness of the underlying functions that map the outcomes to utilities or values.

### 6.4. Summary and Research Needs

In practice, most of the literature on climate mitigation policies is framed within a cost-benefit analysis or IAM approach (as opposed to multicriteria analysis). However, a lack of data often leads to an analysis in which few co-impacts are taken into account (if at all) and in which the valuation of those co-impacts considered is based on financial rather than welfare analysis. There are, however, attempts at broadening the scope of these analyses; the Stern Review (144) is one example.

As shown above, a broad range of methods is available, most of them mature and well established, to assess individual co-impacts. However, these often require a very large research effort for the rigorous estimation of even one co-impact (such as estimating the employment impact of a renewables policy). Appraising each co-impact, as well as properly accounting for their interactions and incorporating these into decision-making frameworks, thus requires a huge effort even for a single policy/measure.

Two conclusions follow. First, further innovation is crucial to (*a*) identify and create streamlined methods and easy-to-use tool kits through which individual co-impacts in their local circumstances can be assessed without a major targeted research enterprise, and (*b*) to design simpler methodological frameworks to integrate these with direct impacts. Second, until such are available, alternative methods can be used for considering co-impacts in decision making. For instance, if a full integration is not possible owing to resource, time, or data constraints, the key co-impact could be selected for a rigorous quantified evaluation, using one of the methods proposed above, and the alternative climate policies/measures can be compared on the basis of this co-impact. In such cases, i.e., when integration into cost-benefit analysis is not needed, considering evaluations in physical units may be more advantageous than using monetary terms to avoid the controversies and biases introduced by translations into monetary units.

# 7. THE IMPORTANCE OF CO-IMPACTS IN SOCIAL COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS

Although the main purpose of this review is to provide methodological guidance for assessing co-impacts and for their incorporation into decision making, one question undoubtedly emerges: How important are such efforts? The discussion above makes it clear that doing so is a challenging and complex task, but is it worth the effort? What difference does it make when the co-impacts are integrated into the analyses?

The quantitative and even qualitative literature is immature to provide an unambiguous answer to this question. We explore this question by identifying a few social cost-benefit analysis studies where an attempt was made to incorporate the co-impacts and where it is possible to compare the outcome with and without their integration. The selection of studies was primarily based on the availability of disaggregated results by categories of social benefits to assess in a quasi-quantitative fashion the relative weight of each category with final profitability indicators (net present values or benefit-cost ratios). Thus, rather than a comprehensive review, the studies collected provide an illustration of the importance of co-impacts in social cost-benefit analysis studies.<sup>4</sup>

**Table 3** presents these studies and attempts to quantify the importance of co-impacts as compared to direct or total impacts on welfare through the selected indicators. Note that all the studies compiled were conducted at national and subnational scales, which draw the attention to the fact that co-benefits are significantly more context, location, and case specific than direct climate or energy benefits, making it much more challenging to draw generic conclusions about co-benefits. At the same time, the study findings are not just strictly representative of the cases and places reported but also show some consistent trends that are meaningful for this review.

Even though the value of climate and other co-benefits largely depends on the assumptions taken, one key conclusion to be drawn from the cases collected is that co-benefits do play significant roles and uniformly change the outcome of the cost-benefit analysis, as shown by the comparison of different benefit categories (see the column entitled "Co-benefit categories in order of relevance" in **Table 3**). Even if direct benefits often represent the largest share of total benefits, co-benefits can amount to as much as 50% to 350% of direct energy benefits from technology-based investments in energy efficiency and renewables (cases 1 through 5). This initial scan also suggests that health-related benefits often dominate in terms of the importance of the different categories of co-benefits, as had been previously suggested by Pearce et al. (98) and Arrow et al. (145).

Study results of efforts to prevent deforestation and forest degradation, as in the investments promoted by global initiatives like Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (known as REDD+), indicate that the value of carbon storage in ecosystems may not always be the main benefit of mitigation measures unless a high value of carbon is chosen (see cases 6 and 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Most of the cases reviewed, with some exceptions like the one from New Zealand (111), are unsurprisingly prospective or ex ante studies because social cost-benefit analysis is a tool primarily used to assess the social desirability of different options before a decision is taken.

in **Table 3**). In fact, the selected per unit values of the carbon captured and stored in ecosystems, as well as the value of other benefit categories (e.g., storm protection in the case of Thai mangroves, watershed protection in the case of Ethiopian cloud forests), are key parameters that determine the relevance of climate benefits in total economic value estimates. The importance of ecosystem nonmarket benefits, many of which can be referred to as co-impacts, has been highlighted by a parallel strand of the economic valuation literature that advocates for valuation of ecosystems services and the estimation of ecosystems' total economic value for properly understanding the overall contribution of ecosystems to human welfare (146, 147).

This brief review of case studies suggests that co-benefits are indeed important as they have the potential to significantly change the outcome of economic assessments of climate interventions. Its inclusion demonstrates that measures or policies with a more or less strictly defined climate goal have a diversity of positive welfare effects on both present and future generations, which often more than justify implementation costs as shown by the positive net present values and the larger-than-one benefit-cost ratios reported in **Table 3**.

### 8. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Co-benefits have become a key area of climate change and energy discourses. In an ideal case, every time a decision is made about a climate- or energy-related investment or policy, it should be done with consideration of its full range of costs and benefits. Nevertheless, this practically never happens, partially because methodologies that incorporate co-impacts into traditional decisionmaking frameworks such as cost-benefit analysis are either lacking or are too immature.

The goal of this review was to provide initial methodological guidance for the incorporation of co-benefits (co-impacts) into decision-making frameworks. More concretely, the article supplies a methodological walking stick for the definition, taxonomization, identification, and quantification/valuation of co-impacts and their incorporation into three key decision-support frameworks using a broad synthesis of the available co-benefit literature. After defining the related terminologies and concepts used, we suggested the broader use of the term co-impacts in place of many others used in the literature. Because policies or measures are typically not introduced for the single purpose that results in the co-benefits, the importance of a multiple-objective–multiple-impact framework for the analysis of co-impacts is emphasized.

Then, after a review of the different categories of co-impacts, we argued that it is not possible to give a distinct taxonomy of these because of their interdependency. Instead, a methodological framework is suggested for identifying and organizing co-impacts for particular cases, along with a range of categories—not fully independent from each other—that can be considered when identifying co-impacts for investments or policies, providing the analysis includes a thorough understanding of their causalities and interdependencies. The application of such methods can help avoid double counting or avoid missing important co-benefits or adverse side effects. We provided a thorough review of various indicators used for the quantification of each of the main co-impact categories identified, both in monetary and physical units, and reviewed the available methodologies for their assessment.

However, even if co-benefits and adverse side effects are identified, taxonomized, and potentially quantified, their incorporation into decision-support frameworks still poses a challenge. We reviewed three key such frameworks: multicriteria and social cost-benefit analyses as well as integrated assessment modeling.

These methodological reviews showed that a proper assessment of co-benefits and adverse side effects is a complex and potentially resource-intensive task. Few studies exist in the literature that thoroughly considered the full range of costs and benefits, including co-benefits and adverse side

effects; that considered their interactions and feedbacks; and that evaluated their full net impact. Therefore, it is important to understand whether these efforts are worthwhile. The review of selected studies where such work has been attempted has shown that the assessment of co-impacts is indeed extremely important and that their incorporation may substantially change the outcomes of cost-benefit analyses. In the reviewed cases, the co-impacts amounted to as much as 50–350% of the direct or total benefits. Therefore, if properly considered, they can indeed become game changing. The review of these case studies also suggested that health-related co-benefits may be among the largest, most important category of co-benefits, although these require substantial further work.

An important conclusion of the review is that co-impacts are substantially more context and location specific than direct impacts often are. Although the direct costs and benefits of a mitigation policy or investment can be more or less universally estimated, the indirect impacts can differ even in the same locality, for instance, by beneficiary; this needs to be recognized by methods and tool kits designed for streamlined incorporation of co-impacts into decisions.

The review points to the immense need for comprehensive studies that incorporate all multiple impacts into the policy appraisal and on the development of easier-to-use streamlined methodological packages and decision-making tool kits that will substantially simplify and automate the evaluation and incorporation of co-impacts into decision support. Although the theoretical underpinnings are all available and well established, there is a severe lack of practical, targeted, simplified methods and tool kits that enable broad everyday consideration of co-impacts in climateand energy-related decision making or, more precisely, that aid decision making in a complex, multiple-purpose framework, executed with limited resources. However, until such frameworks are available, or even if the analysis of the full range of impacts is not possible, assessing a single or selected co-benefit(s) or side effect(s) may also be carried out by partially applying the methods shown above to assist decision making.

### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

### LITERATURE CITED

- Intergov. Panel Clim. Change. 2007. Climate Change 2007: Mitigation of Climate Change Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK/New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Banerjee R, Benson SM, Bouille DH, Brew-Hammond A, Cherp A, et al. 2012. *Global Energy Assessment: Toward a Sustainable Future*. Cambridge, UK/Laxenburg, Austria: Cambridge Univ. Press/Int. Inst. Appl. Syst. Anal.
- Hamilton K, Akbar S. 2010. Assessing the environmental co-benefits of climate change actions. Anal. Backgr. Pap., World Bank Group
- Sathaye J, Shukla PR. 2013. Methods and models for costing carbon mitigation. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 38:137–68
- Edenhofer O, Pichs-Madruga R, Sokona Y, Farahani E, Kadner S, et al., eds. 2014. *Climate Change 2014:* Mitigation of Climate Change. IPCC Working Group III contribution to AR5. Cambridge, UK/New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Pearce DW. 2000. Policy frameworks for the ancillary benefits of climate change policies. CSERGE Work. Pap. GEC 2000-11, Cent. Soc. Econ. Res. Glob. Environ., Univ. East Anglia, Norwich, Engl.
- Crutzen PJ, Graedel TE. 1986. The role of atmospheric chemistry in environment-development interactions. In Sustainable Development of the Biosphere, ed. WC Clark, RE Munn, pp. 213–51. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press

- Organ. Econ. Co-op. Dev. (OECD). 2000. Ancillary benefits and costs of greenhouse gas mitigation. Proc. IPCC Co-Spons. Workshop, 27–29 March 2000, Washington, DC. Paris: OECD
- Krupnick A, Burtraw D, Markandya A. 2000. The ancillary benefits and costs of climate change mitigation: a conceptual framework. *Proc. IPCC Co-Spons. Workshop*, 27–29 March 2000, Washington, DC, pp. 53–94. Paris: OECD
- Turner RK. 1993. Environmental Economics: An Elementary Introduction. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press. 328 pp.
- Markandya A, Rübbelke DTG. 2003. Ancillary benefits of climate policy. J. Econ. Stat. Jahrbücher Für Natl. Stat. 224(4):488–503
- 12. Eur. Comm. 2011. Communication from the commission to the European parliament, the council, the European economic and social committee and the committee of the regions. A roadmap for moving to a competitive low carbon economy in 2050. Brussels, 8.3.2011. COM2011 112 final. Brussels: Eur. Comm.
- 13. Hardin G. 1968. The tragedy of the commons. Science 162(3859):1243-48
- Pittel K, Rübbelke DTG. 2008. Climate policy and ancillary benefits: a survey and integration into the modelling of international negotiations on climate change. *Ecol. Econ.* 68(1–2):210–20
- Dolšak N. 2009. Climate change policy implementation: a cross-sectional analysis. Rev. Policy Res. 26(5):551–70
- Held D, Roger C, Nag E-M. 2013. Editors' introduction: climate governance in the developing world. In *Climate Governance in the Developing World*, ed. D Held, C Roger, E-M Nag. Cambridge, UK: John Wiley & Sons
- Kostka G, Hobbs W. 2012. Local energy efficiency policy implementation in China: bridging the gap between national priorities and local interests. *China Q.* 211:765–85
- Teng F, Gu A. 2007. Climate change: national and local policy opportunities in China. *Environ. Sci.* 4(3):183–94
- Qi Y, Ma L, Zhang H, Li H. 2008. Translating a global issue into local priority: China's local government response to climate change. *J. Environ. Dev.* 17(4):379–400
- Richerzhagen C, Scholz I. 2008. China's capacities for mitigating climate change. Impact Asian Driv. Dev. World 36(2):308–24
- Tsang S, Kolk A. 2010. The evolution of Chinese policies and governance structures on environment, energy and climate. *Environ. Policy Gov.* 20(3):180–96
- Dubash NK. 2013. The politics of climate change in India: narratives of equity and cobenefits. WIREs 4(3):191–201
- Atteridge A, Shrivastava MK, Pahuja N, Upadhyay H. 2012. Climate policy in India: What shapes international, national and state policy? *AMBIO* 41(S1):68–77
- 24. Hochstetler K, Viola E. 2011. *Brazil and the multiscalar politics of climate change*. Presented at Colo. Conf. Earth Syst. Gov., Fort Collins, CO
- Hochstetler K, Viola E. 2012. Brazil and the politics of climate change: beyond the global commons. Environ. Polit. 21(5):753–71
- 26. Gore CD, Robinson PJ. 2009. Local government responses to climate change: our last, best hope? In Changing Climates in North American Politics: Institutions, Policymaking and Multilevel Governance, ed. H Selin, SD VanDeveer, pp. 137–58. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Streimikiene D, Balezentis T. 2013. Multi-objective ranking of climate change mitigation policies and measures in Lithuania. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 18:144–53
- Intergov. Panel Clim. Change, Watson RT, ed. 2001. *Climate Change 2001: Synthesis Report*. Cambridge, UK/New York: Cambridge Univ. Press. 397 pp.
- Jochem E, Madlener R. 2003. The forgotten benefits of climate change mitigation: innovation, technological leapfrogging, employment, and sustainable development. Presented at OECD Workshop Benefits Clim. Policy: Improv. Inf. Policy Mak. ENV/EPOC/GSP(2003)16/FINAL, Organ. Econ. Co-op. Dev., Paris
- Grubb M, Vrolijk C, Brack D. 1999. The Kyoto Protocol: A Guide and Assessment. London/Washington, DC: R. Inst. Int. Aff.
- Mundaca L, Mansoz M, Neij L, Timilsina GR. 2013. Transaction costs analysis of low-carbon technologies. *Clim. Policy* 13:1–24

- Mills E, Rosenfeld A. 1996. Consumer non-energy benefits as a motivation for making energy-efficiency improvements. *Energy* 21(7–8):707–20
- Urge-Vorsatz D, Novikova A, Köppel S, Boza-Kiss B. 2009. Bottom-up assessment of potentials and costs of CO<sub>2</sub> emission mitigation in the buildings sector: insights into the missing elements. *Energy Effic.* 2(4):293–316
- Ruth M. 2011. Managing regional climate mitigation and adaptation co-benefits and co-costs. In *Resilient Cities*, ed. K Otto-Zimmermann, pp. 205–11. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- 35. Hosking J, Mudu P, Dora C. 2011. Health Co-benefits of Climate Change Mitigation—Transport Sector: Health in the Green Economy. Geneva: World Health Organ.
- 36. Valin H, Havlík P, Mosnier A, Herrero M, Schmid E, Obersteiner M. 2013. Agricultural productivity and greenhouse gas emissions: trade-offs or synergies between mitigation and food security? *Environ. Res. Lett.* 8(3):035019
- Ryan L, Campbell N. 2012. Spreading the Net: The Multiple Benefits of Energy Efficiency Improvements. Insight Series 2012. Paris: Organ. Econ. Co-op. Dev./Int. Energy Agency
- UN Environ. Program. (UNEP). 2011. A practical framework for planning pro-development climate policy. Paris: UNEP
- Minist. Environ., Gov. Jpn. 2009. Manual for Quantitative Evaluation of the Co-Benefits Approach to Climate Change Projects, Version 1.0. Tokyo: Kankyöshö
- Dubash K, Raghunandan D, Sant G, Sreenivas A. 2013. Indian climate change policy: exploring a cobenefits based approach. *Econ. Polit. Wkly.* 48(22):47–61
- Ebeling J, Yasue M. 2008. Generating carbon finance through avoided deforestation and its potential to create climatic, conservation and human development benefits. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 363(1498):1917–24
- Van Vuuren DP, Cofala J, Eerens HE, Oostenrijk R, Heyes C, et al. 2006. Exploring the ancillary benefits of the Kyoto protocol for air pollution in Europe. *Energy Policy* 34(4):444–60
- Groosman B, Muller NZ, O'Neill-Toy E. 2011. The ancillary benefits from climate policy in the United States. Environ. Resour. Econ. 50(4):585–603
- 44. Garg A. 2011. Pro-equity effects of ancillary benefits of climate change policies: a case study of human health impacts of outdoor air pollution in New Delhi. World Dev. 39(6):1002–25
- Selvakkumaran S, Limmeechokchai B. 2013. Energy security and co-benefits of energy efficiency improvement in three Asian countries. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 20:491–503
- Grieshop AP, Marshall JD, Kandlikar M. 2011. Health and climate benefits of cookstove replacement options. *Energy Policy* 39(12):7530–42
- 47. Dix-Cooper L, Eskenazi B, Romero C, Balmes J, Smith KR. 2012. Neurodevelopmental performance among school age children in rural Guatemala is associated with prenatal and postnatal exposure to carbon monoxide, a marker for exposure to woodsmoke. *Neurotoxicology* 33(2):246–54
- Mestl HES, Edwards R. 2011. Global burden of disease as a result of indoor air pollution in Shaanxi, Hubei and Zhejiang, China. Sci. Total Environ. 409(8):1391–98
- Azuma K, Uchiyama I, Ikeda K. 2008. The regulations for indoor air pollution in Japan: a public health perspective. *J. Risk Res.* 11(3):301–14
- Logue JM, McKone TE, Sherman MH, Singer BC. 2011. Hazard assessment of chemical air contaminants measured in residences. *Indoor Air* 21(2):92–109
- Persily AK, Emmerich SJ. 2012. Indoor air quality in sustainable, energy efficient buildings. HVACR Res. 18(1-2):4-20
- Eurowinter Group. 1997. Cold exposure and winter mortality from ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, respiratory disease, and all causes in warm and cold regions of Europe. *Lancet* 349(9062):1341–46
- Healy JD. 2004. Housing, Fuel Poverty, and Health: A Pan-European Analysis. Aldershot, UK/Burlington, VT: Ashgate. 250 pp.
- Ormandy D, Ezratty V. 2012. Health and thermal comfort: from WHO guidance to housing strategies. Energy Policy 49:116–21
- Liddell C, Morris C. 2010. Fuel poverty and human health: a review of recent evidence. *Energy Policy* 38(6):2987–97

- 56. Marmot Rev. Team. 2011. The Health Impacts of Cold Homes and Fuel Poverty. London: Friends Earth/Marmot Rev. Team
- 57. Neuhoff K, Bach S, Diekmann J, Beznoska M, El-Laboudy T. 2013. Distributional effects of energy transition: impacts of renewable electricity support in Germany. *Econ. Energy Environ. Policy* 2(1):41–54
- Passchier-Vermeer W, Passchier WF. 2000. Noise exposure and public health. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 108:123–31
- Bonnefoy XR, Annesi-Maesano I, Aznar LM, Braubach M, Croxford B, et al. 2004. *Review of evidence on housing and health: background document*. Presented at Fourth Minist. Conf. Environ. Health, Budapest, Hungary, 23–25 June., Copenhagen: World Health Organ.
- Rojas-Rueda D, de Nazelle A, Tainio M, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ. 2011. The health risks and benefits of cycling in urban environments compared with car use: health impact assessment study. BMJ 2011:343:d4521
- 61. Harlan SL, Ruddell DM. 2011. Climate change and health in cities: impacts of heat and air pollution and potential co-benefits from mitigation and adaptation. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 3(3):126–34
- Vandentorren S, Suzan F, Medina S, Pascal M, Maulpoix A, et al. 2004. Mortality in 13 French cities during the August 2003 heat wave. *Am. J. Public Health* 94(9):1518–20
- 63. Robine J-M, Cheung SLK, Le Roy S, Van Oyen H, Griffiths C, et al. 2008. Death toll exceeded 70,000 in Europe during the summer of 2003. *C. R. Biol.* 331(2):171–78
- 64. Sagar AD. 2005. Alleviating energy poverty for the world's poor. Energy Policy 33(11):1367-72
- 65. Birol F. 2007. Energy economics: a place for energy poverty in the agenda? Energy J. 28(3):1-6
- 66. Von Schirnding Y, Bruce N, Smith K, Ballard-Tremeer G, Ezzaty M, Lvovsky K. 2000. Addressing the Impact of Household Energy and Indoor Air Pollution on the Health of the Poor: Implications for Policy Action and Intervention Measures. Geneva: World Health Organ.
- 67. Boardman B. 1991. Fuel Poverty: From Cold Homes to Affordable Warmth. London/New York: Belhaven. 267 pp.
- 68. Buzar S. 2007. Energy Poverty in Eastern Europe: Hidden Geographies of Deprivation. Burlington, VT: Ashgate
- Jakob M. 2006. Marginal costs and co-benefits of energy efficiency investments. *Energy Policy* 34(2):172– 87
- Griego D, Krarti M, Hernández-Guerrero A. 2012. Optimization of energy efficiency and thermal comfort measures for residential buildings in Salamanca, Mexico. *Energy Build.* 54:540–49
- Alberini A, Banfi S, Ramseier C. 2013. Energy efficiency investments in the home: Swiss homeowners and expectations about future energy prices. *Energy J.* 34(1):49–86
- 72. King EA, Murphy E, Rice HJ. 2011. Evaluating the impact on noise levels of a ban on private cars in Dublin city centre, Ireland. *Transp. Res. Part D.* 16(7):532–39
- Nissenbaum MA, Aramini JJ, Hanning CD. 2012. Effects of industrial wind turbine noise on sleep and health. Noise Health 14(60):237–43
- Bakker RH, Pedersen E, van den Berg GP, Stewart RE, Lok W, Bouma J. 2012. Impact of wind turbine sound on annoyance, self-reported sleep disturbance and psychological distress. *Sci. Total Environ.* 425:42–51
- Saidur R, Rahim NA, Islam MR, Solangi KH. 2011. Environmental impact of wind energy. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 15(5):2423–30
- 76. De Groot R, Brander L, van der Ploeg S, Costanza R, Bernard F, et al. 2012. Global estimates of the value of ecosystems and their services in monetary units. *Ecosyst. Serv.* 1(1):50–61
- 77. Paoletti E, Schaub M, Matyssek R, Wieser G, Augustaitis A, et al. 2010. Advances of air pollution science: from forest decline to multiple-stress effects on forest ecosystem services. *Environ. Pollut.* 158(6):1986–89
- Phelps J, Webb EL, Adams WM. 2012. Biodiversity co-benefits of policies to reduce forest-carbon emissions. *Nat. Clim. Change* 2:497–503
- 79. Gasparatos A, Stromberg P, Takeuchi K. 2011. Biofuels, ecosystem services and human wellbeing: putting biofuels in the ecosystem services narrative. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 142(3–4):111–28
- 80. Butlin RN. 1990. Effects of air pollutants on buildings and materials. Proc. R. Soc. Edinb. Sect. B 97:255-72
- Brimblecombe P, Grossi C. 2007. Damage to buildings from future climate and pollution. Am. Preserv. Technol. Bull. 38:13–19

- Fisk WJ. 2000. Health and productivity gains from better indoor environments and their relationship with building energy efficiency. Annu. Rev. Energy Environ. 25(1):537–66
- Wyon DP. 2004. The effects of indoor air quality on performance and productivity. *Indoor Air* 14(Suppl. 7):92–101
- Seppänen O, Fisk WJ, Lei QH. 2006. Room temperature and productivity in office work. Rep. LBNL-60952, Helsinki Univ. Technol., Helsinki, Finl./Lawrence Berkeley Natl. Lab, Berkeley, CA
- Zivin JG, Neidell M. 2012. The impact of pollution on worker productivity. Am. Econ. Rev. 102(7):3652– 73
- Avnery S, Mauzerall DL, Liu J, Horowitz LW. 2011. Global crop yield reductions due to surface ozone exposure: 1. Year 2000 crop production losses and economic damage. *Atmos. Environ.* 45(13):2284–96
- 87. Podlesna A. 2002. Air pollution by sulfur dioxide in Poland—impact on agriculture. Phyton 42(3):157-63
- Maibach M, Schreyer C, Sutter D, van Essen HP, Boon BH, et al. 2007. Handbook on Estimation of External Cost in the Transport Sector. Delft, Neth.: CE Delft
- Ziegelmann A, Mohr M, Unger H. 2000. Net employment effects of an extension of renewable-energy systems in the Federal Republic of Germany. *Appl. Energy* 65(1–4):329–38
- Scott MJ, Roop JM, Schultz RW, Anderson DM, Cort KA. 2008. The impact of DOE building technology energy efficiency programs on U.S. employment, income, and investment. *Energy Econ.* 30(5):2283– 301
- Moreno B, López AJ. 2008. The effect of renewable energy on employment. The case of Asturias (Spain). Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 12(3):732–51
- Caldés N, Varela M, Santamaría M, Sáez R. 2009. Economic impact of solar thermal electricity deployment in Spain. *Energy Policy* 37(5):1628–36
- Tourkolias C, Mirasgedis S. 2011. Quantification and monetization of employment benefits associated with renewable energy technologies in Greece. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 15(6):2876–86
- Openshaw K. 2010. Biomass energy: employment generation and its contribution to poverty alleviation. Biomass Bioenergy 34(3):365–78
- Silalertruksa T, Gheewala SH, Hünecke K, Fritsche UR. 2012. Biofuels and employment effects: implications for socio-economic development in Thailand. *Biomass Bioenergy* 46:409–18
- Hillebrand B, Buttermann HG, Behringer JM, Bleuel M. 2006. The expansion of renewable energies and employment effects in Germany. *Energy Policy* 34(18):3484–94
- Tirado Herrero S, Ürge-Vorsatz D, Arena D, Telegdy Á. 2011. Co-benefits quantified: employment, energy security and fuel poverty implications of the large-scale, deep retrofitting of the Hungarian building stock. Proc. Eur. Counc. Energy Effic. Econ. Summer Study, Belambra/Presqu'île de Giens, France, June 6-11. http://proceedings.eceee.org/visabstrakt.php?event=1&doc=5-250-11
- 98. Pearce D, Atkinson G, Mourato S. 2006. Cost-Benefit Analysis and the Environment: Recent Developments. Paris: Organ. Econ. Co-op. Dev.
- 99. Azqueta D. 2007. Introducción a la economía ambiental. Madrid, Spain: McGraw-Hill. 2nd ed.
- Toman M. 1998. Special section: forum on valuation of ecosystem services: why not to calculate the value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Ecol. Econ.* 25(1):57–60
- Luck GW, Chan KMA, Eser U, Gómez-Baggethun E, Matzdorf B, et al. 2012. Ethical considerations in on-ground applications of the ecosystem services concept. *BioScience* 62(12):1020–29
- Miller TE. 2000. Variation between countries in the values of statistical life. J. Transp. Econ. Policy 34:169–88
- 103. Stiglitz JE, Sen A, Fitoussi J-P. 2009. Report by the commission on the measurement of economic performance and social progress. Comm. Meas. Econ. Perform. Soc. Prog., Paris. http://www.stiglitz-sen-fitoussi. fr/en/index.htm
- Muller NZ, Mendelsohn R, Nordhaus W. 2011. Environmental accounting for pollution in the United States economy. Am. Econ. Rev. 101(5):1649–75
- Shih Y-H, Tseng C-H. 2014. Cost-benefit analysis of sustainable energy development using life-cycle co-benefits assessment and the system dynamics approach. *Appl. Energy* 119:57–66
- 106. Tourkolias C, Mirasgedis S, Damigos D, Diakoulaki D. 2009. Employment benefits of electricity generation: a comparative assessment of lignite and natural gas power plants in Greece. *Energy Policy* 37(10):4155–66

- 107. Bell ML, Davis DL, Cifuentes LA, Krupnick AJ, Morgenstern RD, Thurston GD. 2008. Ancillary human health benefits of improved air quality resulting from climate change mitigation. *Environ. Health* 7(1):41
- Burtraw D, Krupnick A, Palmer K, Paul A, Toman M, Bloyd C. 2003. Ancillary benefits of reduced air pollution in the US from moderate greenhouse gas mitigation policies in the electricity sector. *J. Environ. Econ. Manag.* 45(3):650–73
- Malla MB, Bruce N, Bates E, Rehfuess E. 2011. Applying global cost-benefit analysis methods to indoor air pollution mitigation interventions in Nepal, Kenya and Sudan: insights and challenges. *Energy Policy* 39(12):7518–29
- 110. Clinch JP, Healy JD. 2000. Cost-benefit analysis of domestic energy efficiency. Energy Policy 29(2):113-24
- 111. Chapman R, Howden-Chapman P, Viggers H, O'Dea D, Kennedy M. 2009. Retrofitting houses with insulation: a cost-benefit analysis of a randomised community trial. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* 63(4):271–77
- 112. Preval N, Chapman R, Pierse N, Howden-Chapman P. 2010. Evaluating energy, health and carbon cobenefits from improved domestic space heating: a randomised community trial. *Energy Policy* 38(8):3965– 72
- 113. World Bank. 2008. The Welfare Impact of Rural Electrification: A Reassessment of the Costs and Benefits; An IEG Impact Evaluation. Washington, DC: World Bank
- 114. ESMAP. 2002. Rural electrification and development in the Philippines: measuring the social and economic benefits. ESMAP Rep. 255/02, Joint UNDP/World Bank Energy Sector Manag. Assist. Program. (ESMAP), Washington, DC
- 115. Tirado Herrero S, Ürge-Vorsatz D, Petrichenko K. 2013. Fuel poverty alleviation as a co-benefit of climate investments: evidence from Hungary. Proc. Eur. Counc. Energy Effic. Econ. Summer Study, Be-lambra/Presqu'ile de Giens, France, June 3–8. http://proceedings.eceee.org/visabstrakt.php?event=3&doc=5B-485-1
- 116. Milne G, Boardman B. 2000. Making cold homes warmer: the effect of energy efficiency improvements in low-income homes. a report to the Energy Action Grants Agency Charitable Trust. *Energy Policy* 28(6–7):411–24
- Bjørner TB. 2004. Combining socio-acoustic and contingent valuation surveys to value noise reduction. Transp. Res. Part D 9(5):341–56
- Brounen D, Kok N. 2011. On the economics of energy labels in the housing market. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 62(2):166–79
- 119. Costanza R, d'Arge R, de Groot R, Farber S, Grasso M, et al. 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature* 387(6630):253–60
- 120. Pollicino M, Maddison D. 2001. Valuing the benefits of cleaning Lincoln Cathedral. J. Cult. Econ. 25(2):131-48
- 121. Wilkinson S, Mills G, Illidge R, Davies WJ. 2011. How is ozone pollution reducing our food supply? *J. Exp. Bot.* 63(2):527–36
- 122. Hedenus F, Azar C, Johansson DJA. 2010. Energy security policies in EU-25—the expected cost of oil supply disruptions. *Energy Policy* 38(3):1241–50
- 123. Damigos D, Tourkolias C, Diakoulaki D. 2009. Households' willingness to pay for safeguarding security of natural gas supply in electricity generation. *Energy Policy* 37(5):2008–17
- 124. Böhringer C, Keller A, van der Werf E. 2013. Are green hopes too rosy? Employment and welfare impacts of renewable energy promotion. *Energy Econ.* 36:277–85
- 125. Wianwiwat S, Asafu-Adjaye J. 2013. Is there a role for biofuels in promoting energy self sufficiency and security? A CGE analysis of biofuel policy in Thailand. *Energy Policy* 55:543–55
- 126. Blanco MI, Rodrigues G. 2009. Direct employment in the wind energy sector: an EU study. *Energy Policy* 37(8):2847–57
- Lambert RJ, Silva PP. 2012. The challenges of determining the employment effects of renewable energy. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 16(7):4667–74
- 128. Soliño M. 2010. External benefits of biomass-e in Spain: an economic valuation. *Bioresour. Technol.* 101(6):1992–97
- 129. Eur. Comm. 2008. Guide to Cost-Benefit Analysis of Investment Projects: Structural Funds, Cohesion Fund and Instrument for Pre-Accession. Brussels: Eur. Comm., Dir. Gen. Reg. Policy

- Copeland CW. 2011. Cost-benefit and other analysis requirements in the rulemaking process. CRS Rep. for Congr. 7–5700, Congr. Res. Serv., Washington, DC
- 131. Shukla PR. 2013. *Review of linked modelling of low-carbon development, mitigation and its full costs and benefits*. Res. Pap., Issue 14, Mitig. Action Plans Scenar. (MAPS), Cape Town, S. Afr.
- 132. Nguyen TB, Wagner F, Schoepp W. 2011. GAINS—an interactive tool for assessing international GHG mitigation regimes. In *Information and Communication on Technology for the Fight against Global Warming*, ed. D Kranzlmüller, AM Toja, pp. 124–35. Berlin/Heidelberg, Ger.: Springer-Verlag
- McCollum DL, Krey V, Riahi K. 2011. An integrated approach to energy sustainability. Nat. Clim. Change 1(9):428–29
- McCollum DL, Krey V, Riahi K, Kolp P, Grubler A, et al. 2013. Climate policies can help resolve energy security and air pollution challenges. *Clim. Change* 119(2):479–94
- 135. Riahi K, Dentener F, Gielen D, Grubler A, Jewell J, et al. 2012. Energy pathways for sustainable development. See Ref. 2, pp. 1203–306
- 136. Dep. Communities Local Gov. 2009. *Multi-Criteria Analysis: A Manual*. Wetherby, UK: Communities Local Gov.
- 137. Munasinghe M. 2007. Making Development More Sustainable: Sustainomics Framework and Practical Applications. Colombo, Sri Lanka: Munasinghe Inst. Dev.
- Munda G. 2004. Social multi-criteria evaluation: methodological foundations and operational consequences. *Eur. J. Oper. Res.* 158(3):662–77
- Ramanathan R. 2001. A note on the use of the analytic hierarchy process for environmental impact assessment. J. Environ. Manag. 63(1):27–35
- 140. Brown K, Corbera E. 2003. A multi-criteria assessment framework for carbon-mitigation projects: putting "development" in the centre of decision-making. Work. Pap. 29, Tyndall Cent. Clim. Change Res., Univ. East Anglia, Norwich, Engl.
- Brown K, Corbera E. 2003. Exploring equity and sustainable development in the new carbon economy. *Clim. Policy* 3:S41–S56
- 142. Munda G. 1995. Multicriteria Evaluation in a Fuzzy Environment: Theory and Applications in Ecological Economics. Heidelberg, Ger.: Physica-Verlag
- Ramanathan R. 2006. ABC inventory classification with multiple-criteria using weighted linear optimization. Comput. Oper. Res. 33(3):695–700
- 144. Stern N. 2007. The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review. Cambridge, UK/New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Arrow KJ, Dasgupta P, Goulder LH, Mumford KJ, Oleson K. 2012. Sustainability and the measurement of wealth. *Environ. Dev. Econ.* 17(03):317–53
- 146. Pearce D. 1998. Can non-market values save the tropical forests? In *Tropical Rain Forest: A Wider Perspective*, Vol. 10, ed. FB Goldsmith, pp. 255–67. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- 147. Plantinga AJ, Wu J. 2003. Co-benefits from carbon sequestration in forests: evaluating reductions in agricultural externalities from an afforestation policy in Wisconsin. *Land Econ.* 79(1):74–85
- 148. Bergmann A, Hanley N. 2012. *The costs and benefits of renewable energy in Scotland*. Rep. to Expert Group Environ. Stud. 2012:5, Gov. Off. Swed., Minist. Financ., Stockholm, Swed.
- 149. García-Frapolli E, Schilmann A, Berrueta VM, Riojas-Rodríguez H, Edwards RD, et al. 2010. Beyond fuelwood savings: valuing the economic benefits of introducing improved biomass cookstoves in the Purépecha region of Mexico. *Ecol. Econ.* 69(12):2598–605
- 150. Reichhuber A, Requate T. 2012. Alternative use systems for the remaining Ethiopian cloud forest and the role of arabica coffee—a cost-benefit analysis. *Ecol. Econ.* 75:102–13
- 151. Sathirathai S. 1998. Economic valuation of mangroves and the roles of local communities in the conservation of natural resources: case study of Surat Thani, south of Thailand. Econ. EEPSEA Res. Rep. ARCHIV 108378, Environ. Program South East Asia (EEPSA), Singapore
- Turner RK, Paavola J, Cooper P, Farber S, Jessamy V, Georgiou S. 2003. Valuing nature: lessons learned and future research directions. *Ecol. Econ.* 46(3):493–510